Case No. 70164

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

FIRST TRANSIT, INC.; and JAY FARRALES,

Appellants,

vs.

JACK CHERNIKOFF; and ELAINE CHERNIKOFF,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Nov 22 2017 08:31 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable STEFANY A. MILEY, District Judge District Court Case No. A-13-682726-C

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Defendants appeal from a final judgment, entered March 9, 2016 (8 App. 1774), and an order denying defendants' post-judgment motions and related amended judgment, both entered June 6, 2017 (11 App. 2614, 2632). On June 21, 2017, this Court entered an order noting the denial of the tolling motions and confirming the Court's jurisdiction.

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this appeal, as principal issues are questions of first impression involving common law and the interpretation of important statutes. NRAP 17(a)(10). It raises, for instance, whether heirs in a wrongful death case pursuing claims under NRS 41.085(4)—including damages for pain, suffering and disfigurement of the decedent—may avoid any reduction for "comparative negligence of . . . the plaintiff's decedent" (NRS 41.141) simply by forgoing a claim on behalf of the estate under NRS 41.085(5).

ISSUES PRESENTED

Defendants seek a new trial based principally on three issues:

1. NRS 41.141 precludes recovery in a wrongful-death action when the plaintiff's decedent is more negligent than the defendant. Is the jury nonetheless precluded from allocating fault to the decedent in an action brought by the decedent's heirs simply because the decedent's estate is not a party?

2. Is a common carrier subject to a heightened duty of care for perils unrelated to the hazards of transport?

3. Was the \$15 million verdict grossly excessive and tainted by attorney misconduct, including asking jurors to assess damages based on the value of the decedent's "life"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment on jury verdict and the denial of a new trial. The Eighth Judicial District Court, The Honorable Stefany A. Miley, District Judge.

INTRODUCTION

Harvey Chernikoff was a high-functioning mentally handicapped adult who allegedly choked to death on insufficiently chewed food while riding in a paratransit bus operated by appellant-defendant First Transit and driven by First Transit's employee, defendant Jay Farrales.

Harvey's elderly parents, respondent-plaintiffs Jack and Elaine Chernikoff, sued First Transit and Farrales, alleging the driver was negligent in not adequately checking on Harvey and preventing him from eating, as well as for how Farrales administered aid once he noticed Harvey was in distress. Plaintiffs claim the company was negligent in training the driver. The jury found for plaintiffs and awarded \$15 million, split equally between decedent's pain and suffering and the heirs' loss of consortium.

A new trial is necessary because: (1) the district court omitted Harvey from the verdict form allocating comparative fault; (2) the

1

district court erred in instructing the jury on the standard of care applicable to paratransit providers; and (3) the jury awarded excessive damages resulting from passion and prejudice caused by improper arguments.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts demonstrate that there is an issue of fact whether Harvey Chernikoff, plaintiff's decedent, was partially at fault in causing his own death. Because the district court did not allow that issue to go to the jury, defendant is entitled to all inferences from the evidence.

A. Despite Disabilities, Harvey Chernikoff <u>Functioned at a High Level</u>

While 51-year-old Harvey Chernikoff had developmental disabilities, he was able in some respects to care for himself. (4 App. 828-33, 843-64.) He lived semi-independently in an apartment with a caregiver. (4 App. 754-56, 852-64, 901-02.) He had a driver's license (4 App. 872-76) and worked at Transition Services, a nonprofit that provides jobs for adults like Harvey. (4 App. 856-61, 869-71.) He also routinely rode to work by himself using the paratransit bus service provided by the Regional Transportation Commission of Southern Nevada (RTC). (4 App. 858-61, 875-81.)

B. <u>The Paratransit Bus</u>

A paratransit bus helps individuals with disabilities get around town. It is not medical transport. (4 App. 889; 5 App. 1227-30.) Harvey, who qualified for paratransit services based on his mental disabilities, was approved to have a "personal care assistant," or PCA, ride with him, but he often rode alone. (4 App. 858, 878-80, 968-80; 5 App. 1227-30; 6 App. 1302-03, 1310.)

C. <u>Harvey's Death</u>

On July 29, 2011, Harvey Chernikoff was a passenger on a paratransit bus driven by Farrales. Farrales was familiar with Harvey and had driven Harvey before, and Harvey sat behind the driver's seat and sometimes talked with Farrales. (4 App. 859; 6 App. 1303-04, 1313-14, 1357.)

Several on-board cameras captured the events of that day. One was over the driver's head facing rearward, and another was directed toward the exit to the driver's right. (12 App.; 3 App. 604; 5 App. 1235-1240, 1248-1249; 6 App. 1320, 1326-35, 1346-55; 7 App. 1512.)

At 6:50 a.m., Harvey was picked up at his home. Around 7:45, Farrales pulled over so Harvey could use the restroom. He then helped Harvey put on his seatbelt. (12 App.; 6 App. 1311-15.)

3

1. Harvey's Disregard of the Posted No-Eating Rule

A few minutes later, beginning at 7:57:30, Harvey started to eat a sandwich. He did so, despite a no-eating sign posted prominently in the front of the bus and a prohibition in the RTC rider's guide. He ate very quickly. Plaintiffs' own expert described it as "wolfing the sandwich down." (12 App.; 3 App. 675, 731-32; 6 App. 1260.) And Harvey was hunched over as he ate, behind the partition separating the driver from the passenger area, where the driver could not see him. (12 App.; 4 App. 815-16; 6 App. 1308-09.) Within a minute-and-a-half, Harvey finished eating and zipped his lunchbox. (3 App. 735-36.)

At 7:59:53, the driver stopped and exited the bus to help a female passenger off. As she walked to the exit, Harvey can be seen rubbing his head and raising an arm. He does not appear to be in distress and made no other movements or sounds. (12 App.; 3 App. 675-77, 732-33; 5 App. 1126-27; 6 App. 1326-1327.)

2. Harvey Slumps Over but Does Not Indicate Distress

While the driver was outside, Harvey gradually started leaning towards the side. About 30 seconds after exiting, Farrales reentered the bus, returned to his seat, and started to drive. While he didn't turn his body to look at Harvey, the driver testified he saw Harvey in his peripheral vision and didn't notice any distress. (12 App.; 3 App. 732-36; 4 App. 815-19; 6 App. 1322-24, 1326-28, 1347-51.)

The video confirms there were no outward signs of choking. Harvey never coughed or gasped for air; he never reached for his throat; and he did not try to stand up, unbuckle his belt, or otherwise get the driver's attention. (12 App.; 3 App. 675-77, 682-687, 715-24, 727-28, 732-41; 5 App. 1132-36; 6 App. 1321-24, 1326-35, 1237-38, 1346-55.)

3. Farrales, who had been Watching the Road, Discovers Harvey and Summons Help

About three minutes after Farrales started driving again, he stopped at a stoplight. While stopped, Farrales scanned his mirror and then turned to check on Harvey, who had been quiet. (12 App.; 6 App. 1326-35, 1346-55.) At first, Farrales could not see Harvey and thought he might be napping, as Harvey mentioned he was sleepy. (12 App. at 7:45:39; 6 App. 1321-23, 1329-31, 1353-55.) Although the partition and farebox obstructed his view (12 App.; 6 App. 1270-71, 1316-20, 1326-29), Farrales eventually saw Harvey slumped over (4 App. 823-24; 6 App. 1329-30, 1352-55). After calling out, Farrales reached back and shook Harvey's arm and then left his seat to check on Harvey but was still unable to get any response. (12 App.; 6 App. 1330-32.) Consistent with his training, Farrales pulled over and alerted First Transit's dispatch center to contact 911. (12 App.; 6 App. 1294, 1330-34.) He then went to Harvey and stayed with him until paramedics arrived about eight minutes later. A cardiac monitor showed Harvey's heart had stopped. Paramedics did not attempt resuscitative efforts. (6 App. 1263-64, 1333-36.)

D. <u>The Trial</u>

1. The Court Omits Plaintiff's Decedent, Harvey, from the Verdict Allocating Negligence

The district court placed the parents on the special verdict form allocating comparative negligence, but did not include Harvey. To support allocating fault to Harvey, defendants pointed to his violation of the no-eating rule, the negligent manner in which he ate the sandwich, and his concealment of his conduct, preventing the driver from seeing a reason to intervene or render aid. (7 App. 1608-12.)

Plaintiffs argued Harvey should not be included on the verdict based on *Banks v. Sunrise*, 120 Nev. 822, 844-45, 102 P.3d 52, 67

(2004), because *Harvey's estate* had voluntarily dismissed its claim and had not been impleaded back into the case, the jury could not apportion fault to Harvey, even though *Harvey's heirs* remained parties and Nevada law imputes the decedent's fault to the heirs. (7 App. 1592-94.)

2. The Court Instructs that Defendants Are Subject to Heightened Duties of Care

Over defendants' objections, the district court gave two instructions on heightened duties of care, one addressing the enhanced duties of a common carrier, and the other addressing the enhanced duties of a paratransit bus operator under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). (7 App. 1574-90.)

Defendants objected to both instructions because any heightened duties First Transit had as a common carrier or under the ADA were not implicated in this case. They argued the manner in which Harvey allegedly died (choking on insufficiently chewed food) implicated only the duty to render emergency aid, which was an ordinary duty of reasonable care. (7 App. 1574-90.) First Transit also maintained that if Harvey did die from choking, Farrales and First Transit did not breach their duty of care. First Transit argued that the only applicable duty was to render aid to a passenger who is visibly ill, which does not require monitoring for medical emergencies - that is what a PCA is for

and why one was allowed. (4 App. 969-70, 972-73, 986; 6 App. 1254-58,

1495-97.) By calling for emergency assistance, defendants argued,

Farrales satisfied his duty of reasonable care. (5 App. 1232-1254.)

The district court overruled defendants' objections and instructed

the jury as follows:

At the time of the occurrence in question, the Defendant FIRST TRANSIT was a common carrier. A common carrier has a duty to its passengers to use *the highest degree of care* consistent with the mode of transportation used and the practical operation of its business as a common carrier by paratransit bus. Its failure to fulfill this duty is negligence.

Instruction No. 32 (emphasis added). (8 App. 1753.)

When a carrier is aware that a passenger is mentally disabled so that hazards of travel are increased as to him, it is the duty of the carrier to provide that additional care which the circumstances reasonably require. The failure of the defendant to fulfill this duty is negligence.

Instruction No. 34 (emphasis added). (8 App. 1755.)

Drawing the jury's attention to these very instructions, plaintiffs'

counsel repeatedly emphasized that the standard of care governing

First Transit and its drivers amounted to a super-heightened "Derek

Jeter" duty, which went far beyond ordinary care. (7 App. 1647-51.)

3. The Verdict

The jury awarded \$15 million, divided equally between Harvey's conscious pain and suffering and his parents' loss of consortium and sorrow. In accordance with their instructions, the jury found First Transit and its driver, Jay Farrales, breached their duty "to use *the highest degree of care*." The jury apportioned 100% of the fault to First Transit and 0% to Farrales and Harvey's parents. (7 App. 1747- 50; 8 App. 1752-53, 1765.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Comparative Negligence of the Decedent: A new trial is

required to correct the omission of decedent Harvey from the verdict form. There is no merit to plaintiffs' argument that defendants needed to implead Harvey's estate. NRS 41.141 requires the jury to consider whether "the plaintiff's decedent" bears any responsibility for his own death. The estate's dismissal has no bearing on the jury's consideration of the decedent's comparative fault for claims by heirs.

Incorrect Standard of Care Instructions: The district court erred in instructing the jury on the standard of care. A common carrier has an enhanced duty only in certain particulars, such as in transporting passengers safely, protecting them from torts of third persons, and ensuring safe embarking and debarking. The heightened duty does not extend to preventing the possibility of choking on insufficiently chewed food. A transit company's special duty to under the ADA also did not apply, because they are limited to boarding, securing assistive devices, and disembarking. The only duty implicated under these facts is to render emergency aid to passengers in apparent distress, which is an ordinary duty of "reasonable affirmative steps" to render aid. *Lee v. GNLV Corp.*, 117 Nev. 291, 295, 22 P.3d 209, 212 (2001).

Excessive Damages: The evidence shows Harvey never panicked or struggled and would not have been conscious for more than 50 seconds after he began to choke, for which the jury awarded the staggering sum of \$7.5 million. And the jury awarded the same amount for grief and sorrow to the parents of the 51-year-old decedent. The damage award in this case is excessive and is explained by counsel's numerous instances of misconduct.

The \$15 million verdict had a legally improper basis, as plaintiffs repeatedly told the jury to award that amount for the "value of Harvey's

life." Plaintiffs vilified defendants for disputing liability, arguing that defending the case amounted to "disrespect" for Harvey's life.

Plaintiffs also requested \$15 million based on ideas of punishment, rather than compensation, tapping into one of the most powerful recent messages for social change, that "[y]our job will be to determine whether all lives matter in America, or just some." They played on local prejudices, arguing defendants believed "[p]eople in Las Vegas don't matter." Counsel also made overt appeals to sympathy and vouched for witnesses. When considered in connection with the emotionally charged and inflammatory argument, the verdict is tainted and cannot stand.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN OMITTING THE DECEDENT FROM THE VERDICT APPORTIONING FAULT

A. The Jury Must Consider the Comparative Negligence of "the Plaintiff's Decedent" <u>in a Wrongful Death Case</u>

1. The Decedent's Negligence is Imputed to the Heirs in their Wrongful-Death Action

Under comparative negligence, a jury assesses the negligence of a plaintiff in bringing about his own injuries, if that plaintiff is still alive.

In a wrongful death action, however, it makes sense to assess the negligence of the plaintiff's decedent in bringing about his death. In such "derivative claims,"

> [w]hen a plaintiff asserts a claim that derives from the defendant's tort against a third person, negligence of the third person is imputed to the plaintiff with respect to that claim. The plaintiff's recovery is also reduced by the plaintiff's own negligence.

RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS: APPORTIONMENT OF LIABILITY § 6(a) & cmt. a (2000).

Many courts articulate this rule that, in the words of the Idaho court, "[i]n an heir's action for wrongful death, the negligence of the decedent is imputed to the plaintiff." See, e.g., Woodburn v. Manco, 50 P.3d 997, 1001 (Idaho 2002); see also, Kelson v. Salt Lake Co., 784 P.2d 1152, 1155 (Utah 1989) ("Under the post-1973 law, as under the pre-1973 law, the wrongful death plaintiff was, in effect, to have imputed to him or her any negligence of the decedent.").

It makes no sense to conclude, as plaintiffs do, that an heir may recover full damages where the decedent himself was partially or primarily responsible for his own death. This Court took this approach in *Fennell v. Miller*, 94 Nev. 528, 583 P.2d 455 (1978), before the enactment of NRS 41.141, holding that an heir could not recover in a

wrongful death action where the "decedent was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law." This Court looked to the causative role of the decedent in bringing about his own death.

That same approach is now codified in the comparative negligence statute. While NRS 41.141 eliminated the harsh rule of contributory negligence, it maintains the rule that the decedent's negligence is imputed to the wrongful-death plaintiff.

2. NRS 41.141 Requires Consideration of the Decedent's Negligence

It is generally recognized that, "[u]nless otherwise provided in a wrongful-death statute, negligence of the decedent is imputed to the plaintiff under a wrongful-death statute." RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS: APPORTIONMENT OF LIABILITY § 6(a), cmt. c (2000). Nevada's statutory code goes even further, as the comparative negligence statute expressly calls for consideration of the fault of the decedent.

NRS 41.141 calls for the jury to consider the negligence of the "plaintiff's decedent":

In any action to recover damages for death or injury to persons... in which comparative negligence is asserted as a defense, the comparative negligence of the plaintiff or the plaintiff's decedent does not bar a recovery if that negligence was not greater than the negligence or gross negligence of the parties to the action against whom recovery is sought.

NRS 41.141(1) (emphases added). The statute repeats the requirement to consider the decedent's negligence in another subsection:

The plaintiff may not recover if the plaintiff's *comparative negligence* or that *of the plaintiff's decedent* is greater than the negligence of the defendant or the combined negligence of multiple defendants...

NRS 41.141(2)(a).

Federal courts, applying NRS 41.141 to wrongful death actions, have held that the defendant's negligence is to be compared to, and the plaintiff's recovery reduced by, "the amount of negligence attributable to the plaintiff's decedent," even when the action is brought by the decedent's parents. *Moyer v. United States*, 593 F. Supp. 145, 147 (D. Nev. 1984) ("Since Plaintiffs' decedent was 50% contributorily negligent, each of said awards [to the heirs] must be diminished by 50%."); *see also Rich v. Taser Int'l, Inc.*, 2012 WL 1080281, at *14 (D. Nev. Mar. 30, 2012) (holding that NRS 41.141 calls for the jury in a wrongful death action to assess the comparative negligence of the decedent). This Court should make clear that a decedent's negligence in a wrongful death action is attributed to the plaintiff, and the jury has to assess the comparative negligence of the decedent under NRS 41.141(2)(b).¹ See also NEVADA JURY INSTRUCTIONS—CIVIL (2011 ed.) Instruction No. 4NG.21 ("The percentage of negligence attributable to the plaintiff's decedent shall reduce the amount of plaintiff's recovery")

3. Banks Does Not Preclude the Jury's Consideration of the Decedent's Fault

While plaintiffs argued below that *Banks ex rel. Banks v. Sunrise Hospital* requires excluding Harvey from the special verdict on apportionment, that interpretation conflicts with the plain language and intent of the statute. *Banks* is not on point, as the "nonparties" in that case were settling co-defendants, and there was no argument that their negligence should be attributed to the plaintiff. 120 Nev. 822, 844-45, 102 P.3d 52, 67 (2004). There is not even dicta in the *Banks*

¹ This Court has never had cause to rule whether a decedent's comparative negligence is attributed to the plaintiff in a wrongful-death case. *See Young's Mach. Co. v. Long*, 100 Nev. 692, 693, 692 P.2d 24, 25 (1984) (decedent's comparative negligence irrelevant in a product-defect action, an exception to NRS 41.141); *Davies v. Butler*, 95 Nev. 763, 771, 602 P.2d 605, 610 (1979) (decedent's comparative negligence would have required apportionment but for defendant's willful and wanton misconduct).

opinion that suggests that the Supreme Court was rejecting the rule that the comparative fault of the decedent is considered in a derivative wrongful-death claim.

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