### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No.:

FIRST TRANSIT, INC.; and JAY FARRALES,

Appellants,

Electronically Filed Mar 08 2018 10:36 a.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

JACK CHERNIKOFF; and ELAINE CHERNIKOFF,

Respondents.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Stefany Miley Presiding

70164

### **RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF**

### **Richard Harris Law Firm**

Benjamin P. Cloward, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 11087 801 South Fourth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: (702) 628-9888 Facsimile: (702) 960-4118 benjamin@richardharrislaw.com

## **Marquis Aurbach Coffing**

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

underlying jury instructions. *Id.* The Court should first take note that First Transit did not object to the underlying jury instructions and did not object to counsel's illustration of First Transit's duties owed during closing argument. Thus, the Court should treat the entire issue as waived. *Etcheverry*, 107 Nev. at 784–785, 821 P.2d at 351; *Lioce*, 124 Nev. at 19, 174 P.3d at 981–982. In any event, the Chernikoffs' counsel was permitted to offer illustrations to help the jury understand the Head v. State, 575 S.E.2d 883, 888 (Ga. 2003)("Counsel's instructions. illustrations during closing argument may be as various as are the resources of his genius; his argumentation as full and profound as his learning can make it; and he may, if he will, give play to his wit, or wing to his imagination."). And, the substance of counsel's argument was to demonstrate that First Transit's duties owed as a common carrier was more than a complete stranger, which is consistent with First Transit's citation (AOB40) to O'Leary v. Am. Airlines, 475 N.Y.S.2d 285, 288 (N.Y.App. 1984)("However, the defendant in this case is not a private person but a common carrier..."). Accordingly, First Transit's argument that counsel's illustration of Jury Instructions Nos. 32 and 34 during closing argument somehow affected the instructions themselves is without merit.

# C. THE DISTRICT COURT ALSO PROPERLY REJECTED FIRST TRANSIT'S ARGUMENT IN POST-TRIAL PROCEEDINGS REGARDING THE CLAIMED EXCESSIVENESS OF THE JURY VERDICT.

First Transit's opening brief relies heavily upon the argument of counsel to have this Court reweigh the evidence presented to the jury. *Jain*, 109 Nev. at 475–476, 851 P.2d at 457. Perhaps most troubling is that First Transit's opening brief attempts to present its own version of facts, even though the Chernikoffs, as the prevailing parties at trial, are entitled to all favorable inferences in the record. *Thitchener*, 124 Nev. at 739, 192 P.3d at 252. Due to the misguided framework of First Transit's entire argument on excessiveness, it simply cannot overcome the very high standards to prevail under the various theories it has presented.

## 1. First Transit Did Not File an NRCP 50(a) or 50(b) Motion and Has Waived Any Challenge to the Sufficiency of the Evidence.

According to *Price*, 85 Nev. at 607, 460 P.2d at 841: "It is solidly established that when there is no request for a directed verdict, the question of the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the verdict is not reviewable." *Id.*; *Nitco Holding Corp. v. Boujikian*, 491 F.3d 1086, 1089 (9th Cir. 2007)("[A] post-verdict motion under Rule 50(b) is an absolute prerequisite to any appeal based upon insufficiency of the evidence.").

Even though First Transit did not file an NRCP 50(a) or 50(b) motion, it improperly argues against the sufficiency of the evidence. For example, First

Transit argues, "[I]f that is the case then the judgment against First Transit must be vacated as a matter of law pursuant to NRCP 50(b)." AOB49. First Transit also offers the bare argument, "The allocation of fault conflicts with the evidence." AOB52. Since First Transit has waived any challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to support the jury verdict, this Court should disregard the numerous references.

#### 2. <u>As the Prevailing Parties at Trial, the Chernikoffs Are</u> Entitled to All Favorable Inferences in the Record.

To support its argument for excessiveness, First Transit presents its own version of facts as the measure by which this Court should determine if the jury verdict was excessive. Yet, the Court must look at all the evidence, which First Transit did not even provide to the Court. *Wyeth*, 126 Nev. at 472, 244 P.3d at 783. Moreover, the standards of review expressly prohibit the kind of analysis of the claimed excessiveness that First Transit proposes. *Webb*, 87 Nev. at 266, 485 P.2d at 679 (This Court will not disturb the result "despite suspicions and doubts based upon conflicting evidence."); *Automatic Merchandisers*, 98 Nev. at 284–285, 646 P.2d at 555 (This Court does not substitute its own judgment for the trier of fact on the issue of damages.); *Stackiewicz*, 100 Nev. at 454–455, 686 P.2d at 932 ("[This Court] may not invade the province of the fact-finder by arbitrarily substituting a monetary judgment in a specific sum felt to be more suitable.").

When reviewing the Chernikoffs' evidence presented at trial, the Court should determine that the jury verdict was not excessive. *Thitchener*, 124 Nev. at 739, 192 P.3d at 252 (2008). For instance, First Transit's own medical expert, Dr. MacQuarrie, testified that choking is a "horrible way to die, and it is a demonstrative way to die." 5AA1197–1198. The District Court specifically relied upon Dr. MacQuarrie's trial testimony to deny First Transit's excessiveness argument. 11AA2620. Dr. Stein reviewed the video (12AA) with the jury and explained when Harvey started to have some distress and was uncomfortable (3AA676), when he was choking (3AA677), when he was in obvious distress and started to get weak and lean over (3AA682), and when he was unconscious. 3AA687. These events took place over the course of about eight minutes. So, First Transit's bare arguments claiming that Harvey did not suffer are without merit and disrespectful. AOB44–45.

With regard to its claim that the Chernikoffs' award for "grief, sorrow, loss of companionship, society, comfort, and loss of relationship" was excessive, First Transit does not offer a single legal authority. AOB45–47. Thus, the Court can safely ignore First Transit's improper arguments. *Edwards*, 122 Nev. at 330 n.38, 130 P.3d at 1288 n.38. Instead, First Transit asks this Court to reweigh the evidence and invade the province of the jury, which this Court cannot do. Contrary to First Transit's assertions, the District Court found that "Harvey's

family members testified for long periods of time, showed pictures, and demonstrated a close family relationship." 11AA2620. Finally, First Transit's attempt to compare the jury verdict to other cases is not only incomplete (AOB43) but contrary to Nevada law. *Wyeth*, 126 Nev. at 472 n.10, 244 P.3d at 783 n.10. Therefore, First Transit simply has not demonstrated that the jury verdict is excessive.

### 3. <u>First Transit Waived Its Challenge to Any Claimed Inconsistencies in the Verdict Form.</u>

First Transit's opening brief characterizes the jury as impassioned, lawless, and out to get First Transit. AOB47–52. However, First Transit avoids the fact that two jurors actually ruled in its favor. 7AA1711–1712. Regardless, after First Transit was aware of the verdict and reviewed the verdict, it simply allowed the jury to be discharged without objection. 7AA1712–1715. First Transit's failure to object was fatal to its entire line of argument on alleged inconsistencies. *Baldwin*, 97 Nev. at 272, 628 P.2d at 682 ("Had the parties timely entered objection when the verdicts were returned, the trial court could have determined the validity of the objections. If it found merit in them, the court could have further instructed the jury and sent it back for additional deliberation."); *Cramer*, 116 Nev. at 583, 3 P.3d at 670 ("[W]e have formulated the policy that 'failure to timely object to the filing of the verdict or to move that the case be resubmitted to the jury' constitutes a waiver of the issue of an inconsistent verdict."). Yet, First Transit's claimed

inconsistencies are largely speculation of counsel and prohibited attempts to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence. *Jain*, 109 Nev. at 475–476, 851 P.2d at 457. Therefore, the Court should ignore First Transit's waived arguments regarding claimed inconsistencies in the verdict form.

#### 4. <u>First Transit's Argument that the Jury Manifestly Disregarded the Jury Instructions Is Wholly Without Merit.</u>

First Transit suggests that the jury manifestly disregarded the jury instructions simply because it did not render a defense verdict. AOB50-52. The District Court considered First Transit's argument in post-trial proceedings and concluded that First Transit simply did not satisfy the very high burden under NRCP 59(a). 11AA2620. Notably, First Transit's opening brief does not even mention the standard of review for the manifest disregard analysis, even though it was stated in the District Court's order. *Id.* When determining whether to grant a new trial based on manifest disregard of the jury instructions under NRCP 59(a)(5), the question is if the jurors had properly applied the instructions of the court, it would have been impossible for them to reach the verdict that they reached. Weaver Brothers, Ltd. v. Misskelly, 98 Nev. 232, 234, 645 P.2d 438, 439 (1982). Once again, First Transit makes a cursory argument based on its own evidence, but does not argue that the Chernikoffs' prevailing evidence would make the jury verdict impossible to reach. Unlike the plaintiffs in Nev. Cement Co. v. Lemler, 89 Nev. 447, 450–451, 514 P.2d 1180, 1182 (1973), the Chernikoffs are

husband and wife. Additionally, courts do not need to know how juries reached their verdicts, just that they could have based upon the instructions given and the evidence. *M&R Inv. Co. v. Anzalotti*, 105 Nev. 224, 226, 773 P.2d 729, 731 (1989). Therefore, First Transit's manifest disregard argument also fails as a matter of law.

## 5. <u>First Transit Completely Failed to Object to Any Claimed Attorney Misconduct During Closing Argument and Cannot Demonstrate Plain Error.</u>

First Transit completely failed to object to any claimed attorney misconduct during closing argument and cannot demonstrate plain error. *Lioce*, 124 Nev. at 19, 174 P.3d at 982. The District Court reviewed each of First Transit's claims of attorney misconduct during the closing argument and denied its motion for new trial. 11AA2619. Ultimately, the District Court found, "Having presided at the jury trial and being familiar with the evidence presented to the jury, the Court does not find that the verdict would have been different but for the claimed instances of attorney misconduct." *Id.* With this finding, the District Court also explained that First Transit did not satisfy its "burden to demonstrate plain error or irreparable and fundamental error." 11AA2619–2620. Plain error means that there is no reasonable explanation, other than the misconduct, for the jury's verdict. *Lioce*, 124 Nev. at 19, 174 P.3d at 981–982. First Transit can never satisfy the plain error standard because the reasonable explanation of the jury verdict is the Chernikoffs'

evidence, which First Transit chose to omit and ignore in its opening brief. *Grosjean v. Imperial Palace, Inc.*, 125 Nev. 349, 365–366, 212 P.3d 1068 (2009)(refusing a finding of attorney misconduct when "[b]oth Grosjean and Imperial Palace presented numerous witnesses and evidence during the trial, and credibility determinations and the weighing of evidence are left to the trier of fact).

First Transit erroneously argues that counsel for the Chernikoffs improperly asked for a measure of damages based upon Harvey's life. AOB53–58. During closing argument, counsel for the Chernikoffs stated, "In this case, the amount that we're asking for [] Harvey's life, for the loss of companionship, for the loss of love, for the loss of relationship, for the things that they destroyed is \$15 to 25 million." 7AA1654–1655. The entire statement demonstrates that counsel was simply illustrating the measure of damages in NRS 41.085(4) for the person's "grief or sorrow, loss of probable support, companionship, society, comfort and consortium...." Notably, the jury did not award the Chernikoffs more than their And, unopposed Jury Instruction No. 22 added some requested damages. additional explanation to the statutory measure of damages in NRS 41.085(4). 7AA1743; W. Techs., 122 Nev. at 875, 139 P.3d at 862. Likewise, unopposed Jury Instruction No. 23 gave the jury the discretion to determine an amount of damages for pain and suffering. 7AA1744. So, First Transit's argument based upon an isolated phrase simply does not satisfy the plain error standard.

Several of counsel's other statements in the closing argument were comments upon the evidence. RPC 3.4(e) specifically allows lawyers to allude to facts that are "supported by the evidence." At trial, McKibbins took the position that Farrales and First Transit had done nothing wrong. 7AA1522. First Transit also required a court order to release the video from the bus to the Chernikoffs. 5AA1054, 1058. Daecher also claimed that Farrales did everything he was supposed to do. 6AA1273. As such, the evidence demonstrated that First Transit took absolutely no responsibility for its actions.

First Transit also took the position during trial that Harvey's cause of death could not be determined because a full autopsy was not done. 3AA565. The medical examiner, Lingamfelter, explained in his testimony that Harvey's family did not want an internal autopsy for religious reasons, even though First Transit wanted one. 5AA1010–1028. Lingamfelter even commented that going through a full autopsy would only have the effect of putting Harvey's family in further duress. 5AA1024. So, the comments from counsel on First Transit's position regarding the autopsy were also based upon the evidence.

In its opening brief, First Transit suggests that counsel was commenting upon the larger social issues of whether all lives matter. AOB63–64. This statement, too, was based upon the evidence presented at trial. McKibbens, as the nationwide director of corporate safety for First Transit, testified at length that the

company is in 240 locations throughout the United States but only 10 markets have CPR, first aid, and Heimlich maneuver training. 7AA1537–1538. During this cross-examination exchange, McKibbens was asked several times why Las Vegas and why the other 229 First Transit markets did not train their drivers on these procedures, particularly since First Transit's safety manual contains information about each of these procedures. 4RA764–766. Thus, First Transit's attempt to create an issue of attorney misconduct, while disregarding the testimony of its own witnesses, is equally unavailing.

More recent case law confirms that using the phrase "send a message" while describing the evidence does not amount to jury nullification. *Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 319 P.3d 606, 614 (Nev. 2014). Therefore, First Transit's arguments suggesting otherwise are without merit. AOB61–62. First Transit's argument regarding the allegedly punitive nature of the jury verdict is pure speculation of counsel. AOB62. The discussion of \$88.00 was comparing the relatively small cost to train each First Transit driver in comparison to the amounts of contracts First Transit had with the RTC. 7AA1658. But, First Transit consciously chose to exclude Las Vegas and most of its 240 markets from any training. 7AA1547. Counsel's remarks were once again based upon the evidence, including McKibbens' testimony. 7AA1543–1547.

Finally, First Transit's claim that counsel "vouched" for Elaine is similarly without merit. AOB64. Farrales testified that he knew Harvey always carried a lunchbox. 6AA1357. Farrales also helped Harvey drink water on the bus, which, according to First Transit, was a violation of its own rules. 3AA594. Counsel was simply commenting on First Transit's hypocrisy in trying to lay blame on Elaine for not taking action with regard to First Transit's rules when First Transit itself was not honoring those rules. Therefore, this Court should affirm the judgment because First Transit cannot demonstrate plain error to overcome the jury verdict or otherwise demonstrate that the verdict was excessive.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

In summary, this Court should affirm the judgment on jury verdict in favor of the Chernikoffs for a variety of reasons. First Transit has not preserved its challenge to the verdict form for review by this Court. And, NRS 41.141(2)(b)(2) specifically required Harvey's estate to be omitted from the verdict form. First Transit also has not preserved its challenge to Jury Instructions Nos. 32 and 34. In any event, both jury instructions are pattern jury instructions that correctly define First Transit's duties owed. First Transit also has not preserved its argument regarding alleged attorney misconduct by failing to object at trial and cannot satisfy the plain error standard. First Transit's remaining arguments on the claimed excessiveness of the jury verdict are completely without merit. Therefore, the

Chernikoffs respectfully request that this Court affirm the judgment based upon any reason supported by the record. *Hotel Riviera*, 97 Nev. at 403, 632 P.2d at 1158.